



Making Repossessions Safer and Fairer:

**Model Consumer Amendments
to
Uniform Commercial Code Article 9**

June 2016

By

National Consumer Law Center®

© Copyright 2016, National Consumer Law Center, Inc. All rights reserved.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The principal authors of these model consumer amendments are NCLC staff attorneys Jonathan Sheldon, Carolyn Carter, and John Van Alst. They are also the principal authors of *Repossessions* (8th ed. 2013), updated at www.nclc.org/library.

Special thanks to Michael Greenfield, George Alexander Madill Professor of Contracts and Commercial Law, at Washington University in St. Louis, for his willingness to contribute his time, his advice, and his knowledge. The model consumer amendments are the work of the National Consumer Law Center, and do not necessarily express the views of Professor Greenfield.

Thanks also to NCLC staff attorney John Rao, NCLC contributing author David Seligman, and to Yael Shavit, a Ford Foundation Public Interest Fellow at NCLC. Thanks also to Jan Kruse, Svetlana Ladan and Cleef Milien of NCLC for formatting this model law.



ABOUT THE NATIONAL CONSUMER LAW CENTER

Since 1969, the nonprofit National Consumer Law Center® (NCLC®) has used its expertise in consumer law and energy policy to work for consumer justice and economic security for low-income and other disadvantaged people, including older adults, in the United States. NCLC's expertise includes policy analysis and advocacy; consumer law and energy publications; litigation; expert witness services, and training and advice for advocates. NCLC works with nonprofit and legal services organizations, private attorneys, policymakers, and federal and state government and courts across the nation to stop exploitive practices, to help financially stressed families build and retain wealth, and advance economic fairness.

www.nclc.org

Introduction

Existing law governing repossession of motor vehicles and other personal property leaves consumers vulnerable to the whims of creditors and largely in the dark as to the nature of the process. Secured creditors can, without any court or other government supervision, decide when to repossess the consumer's property, seize it without notice, and sell it in a manner it chooses--often at an auction where the consumer is barred and that is held at a time and place hidden from the consumer.

Repossession of consumer collateral often involves stealth or entry onto private property. Physical confrontations, high-speed chases, and the use of weapons are all too common.¹

After seizure, typically the property is sold for far below its value, sometimes to an insider, large fees are tacked on, and the secured party then seeks a deficiency--the outstanding debt plus repossession, storage, processing, and sale costs and attorney fees, less only the below-value sale price of the consumer's property. Thus the consumer has lost the property and also owes a deficiency, a debt that is often unaffordable and will follow the family for many years.

The harm to the consumer, though, is far more than the deficiency obligation. repossession of cars in particular causes great financial disruption to families, preventing access to employment, day care, schooling, medical care, and other essential services. Other seized property may have special significance or utility to the family not replaceable by a substitute purchase, even if such a substitute were affordable.

The basic law regulating consumer repossessions is found in Uniform Commercial Code Article 9, in effect in all fifty states. Article 9 rules, with few exceptions, apply equally to commercial and consumer transactions--the rules are essentially the same whether the seizure involves a major corporation's oil rig or a consumer's ten year old car.

These model consumer amendments to Article 9 rationalize the rules for consumer repossessions, since consumer transactions require different considerations than secured transactions among commercial entities. The amendments temper for consumers the harsh aspects of existing repossession law while holding the creditor's financial interests harmless. The amendments do not prohibit self-help repossession or restrict the sale of consumer goods at dealer-only auctions, and the creditor is still entitled to a full recovery on the debt.

The model amendments give consumers additional avenues to avoid loss of their property by allowing them a limited period of time to catch up on back due payments. The model also addresses certain public safety concerns involved with self-help repossessions.

The model amendments provide greater transparency for consumers. If the collateral will be sold at a dealer-only auction, the amendments require the consumer to be notified of the date and time of the auction. The amendments lift the veil of secrecy from the creditor's calculation of the amount

¹ See J. Van Alst and R. Jurgens, *Repo Madness: How Automobile Repossessions Endanger Owners, Agents and the Public* (NCLC 2010), at https://www.nclc.org/images/pdf/special_projects/auto/report-repo-madness.pdf.

still owed after a repossession sale, and require the creditor to share its calculations with the consumer. The amendments also ensure that consumers receive proper refunds on service contracts and the like when their property is seized. Other provisions restrict below-market repossession sales to insiders and otherwise deter commercially unreasonable sales of consumer goods.

Except for a few clarifying amendments, the amendments apply only to consumer transactions, and leave untouched the relationship between commercial lenders and commercial borrowers. All states recognize that consumer repossessions require different rules than commercial ones—in fact virtually all the model amendments here have been enacted as consumer legislation or adopted by court decisions in at least some states with no adverse consequences to access to consumer credit. The model amendments provide uniform rules that are easily grafted onto existing Article 9. They modernize consumer repossession law in ways designed to offer much-needed protection for consumers while not prejudicing creditors.

Listing of Sections Amended

Section 9-102. Definitions and Index of Definitions.

Section 9-103. Purchase-Money Security Interest; Application of Payments; Burden of Establishing.

Section 9-601. Rights After Default; Judicial Enforcement; Consignor or Buyer of Accounts, Chattel Paper, Payment Intangibles, or Promissory Notes.

Section 9-607. Collection and Enforcement by Secured Party.

Section 9-608. Application of Proceeds of Collection or Enforcement; Liability for Deficiency and Right to Surplus.

Section 9-609. Secured Party's Right to Take Possession After Default.

Section 9-610. Disposition of Collateral After Default.

Section 9-611. Notification Before Disposition of Collateral.

Section 9-612. Timeliness of Notification Before Disposition of Collateral.

Section 9-614. Contents and Form of Notification Before Disposition of Collateral: Consumer-Goods Transaction.

Section 9-615. Application of Proceeds of Disposition; Liability for Deficiency and Right to Surplus.

Section 9-616. Explanation of Calculation of Surplus or Deficiency.

Section 9-620. Acceptance of Collateral in Full or Partial Satisfaction of Obligation; Compulsory Disposition of Collateral.

Section 9-623. Right to Redeem Collateral.

Section 9-624. Waiver.

Section 9-625. Remedies for Secured Party's Failure to Comply with Article.

Section 9-626. Action in Which Deficiency or Surplus Is in Issue.

Effective Date

ARTICLE 9.

SECURED TRANSACTIONS

Section 9-102. Definitions and Index of Definitions.

(a) [Article 9 definitions.] In this article:

* * *

(63) “Person related to”, with respect to an organization, means:

(A) a person directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by, or under common control with the organization;

(B) a person that had previously owned the obligation that the organization is enforcing, or a person directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by, or under common control with such a person;

(CB) an officer or director of, or a person performing similar functions with respect to, the organization;

(CD) an officer or director of, or a person performing similar functions with respect to, a person described in subparagraph (A) or (B);

(DE) the spouse of an individual described in subparagraph (A), (B), (C) or (D); or

(EF) an individual who ~~is related by blood or marriage to an individual described in subparagraph (A), (B), (C), or (D) and~~ shares the same home with the individual described in subparagraph (A), (B), (C), (D) or (E).

Comment:

The UCC provides protections where collateral is sold to an insider, but the definition of an insider is unnecessarily limited: a person living with an insider is considered an insider only if related by blood or marriage to the insider. Moreover, often credit sellers have close relationships with

their assignees and thus the assignor should be considered an insider when the assignee sells the collateral back to the assignor. The limited protections offered by existing Section 9-615(f) concerning sales to assignors are inadequate for consumer transactions. See Comment 3 to Section 9-610.

Section 9-103. Purchase-Money Security Interest; Application of Payments; Burden of Establishing.

(a) [Definitions.] In this section:

*

*

*

(2) “purchase-money obligation” means an obligation of an obligor incurred as all or part of the price of the collateral or for value given to enable the debtor to acquire rights in or the use of the collateral if the value is in fact so used. In consumer transactions involving the purchase of property or the extension of credit to purchase property, the purchase-money obligation does not include amounts necessary to pay off another debt.

Comment:

When an obligation is a purchase money one, as defined by state law, the U.S. Bankruptcy Code gives rights to a secured creditor beyond the value of its security interest, thus prejudicing other creditors and the debtor. The part of an obligation used to purchase the

collateral is logically a purchase money obligation, but not that part of a loan used to pay off an unrelated debt of the consumer, such as the amount necessary to pay off “negative equity” on a trade-in.

Section 9-601. Rights After Default; Judicial Enforcement; Consignor or Buyer of Accounts, Chattel Paper, Payment Intangibles, or Promissory Notes.

*

*

*

(g) [**Consignor or buyer of certain rights to payment.**] Except as otherwise provided in Section 9-607(c), this part:

(1) imposes no duties upon a secured party that is a consignor; and ~~or is~~

(2) imposes no duties running from a buyer of accounts, chattel paper, payment intangibles, or promissory notes to the seller of the accounts, chattel paper, payment intangibles, or promissory notes.

Comment:

The language of existing subsection (g), if interpreted literally, would exempt many creditors from its provisions, and this

amendment clarifies that this was never the intent.

Section 9-607. Collection and Enforcement by Secured Party.

*

*

*

(d) [**Expenses of collection and enforcement.**] A secured party may deduct from the collections made pursuant to subsection (c) reasonable expenses of collection and enforcement, including reasonable attorney’s fees and legal expenses incurred by the secured party, but in a consumer transaction only where such fees are allowed by Section 9-615(h).

Comment:

This change is necessary to be consistent with new Section 9-615(h), which limits the right to attorney fees in consumer transactions.

Section 9-608. Application of Proceeds of Collection or Enforcement; Liability for Deficiency and Right to Surplus.

(a) [**Application of proceeds, surplus, and deficiency if obligation secured.**] If a security interest or agricultural lien secures payment or performance of an obligation, the following rules apply:

(1) A secured party shall apply or pay over for application the cash proceeds of collection or enforcement under Section 9-607 in the following order to:

(A) the reasonable expenses of collection and enforcement and, to the extent provided for by agreement and not prohibited by Section 9-615(h) or other law, reasonable 's fees and legal expenses incurred by the secured party;

Comment:

This change is necessary to be consistent with new Section 9-615(h), which limits the right to attorney fees in consumer transactions.

Section 9-609. Secured Party's Right to Take Possession After Default.

(a) [**Possession; rendering equipment unusable; disposition on debtor's premises.**] After default and, for a consumer transaction, after expiration of the cure period provided in subsection (f), a secured party:

(1) may take possession of the collateral; and

(2) without removal, may render equipment, but not consumer goods, unusable and dispose of collateral on a debtor's premises under Section 9-610.

*

*

*

(d) [Objection and Breach of the Peace] An example of breach of the peace is failing to stop a repossession upon the objection of an individual who appears upon the scene of the repossession.

(e) [Applicability Until Repossession Complete] A breach of the peace violates this section if it occurs at any time before a repossession is complete. A repossession is complete when the secured party or its agent has moved the collateral to a fixed location that it controls.

(f) [Right to cure] In a consumer transaction, after a default and thirty days before accelerating the obligation or taking possession of the collateral, the secured party shall provide written notice to the

debtor and the obligors of the nature of any default, the imminence of any acceleration or seizure of the collateral, and that the debtor and obligors have the right during that thirty day period to cure the default. If the default is cured, no action can be taken based upon that default to accelerate the obligation or take possession of the collateral.

(g) [Limits on right to cure] The rights provided by subsection (f) shall apply no more than three times in any calendar year.

(h) [Unsecured personal property.] A secured party has rights only in the collateral. Any other property taken at the time that the secured party takes possession of collateral shall be returned to the debtor within 5 days. Until returned to the debtor, the secured party shall take reasonable measures to preserve and care for such property. The secured party may not impose any fee or condition upon the debtor to obtain the property, except that it may require a signature to indicate receipt and it may require the debtor to recover the property at a reasonable location no more than ten miles from the location where the secured party took possession of the collateral.

Comments:

1. Subsection (a)(2) clarifies that Article 9 allows for disablement of collateral only in the case of commercial equipment, and provides that a secured party shall not disable other types of collateral used by a consumer, such as a motor vehicle.

2. Self-help repossession is inherently dangerous, and all too often results in personal injuries or even death. One of the most effective ways to reduce physical confrontations is to require the repossession agent to discontinue any attempt to repossess the collateral if an individual appears on the scene and objects. Many courts adopt this rule and recognize that it is a breach of the peace to proceed with a repossession over an individual's objection. Subsection (d) codifies this rule.

3. The objection need not be by the debtor, but can be by any individual, such as a neighbor, a friend, or a member of the debtor's family. The purpose of the provision is to protect the public safety rather than to give the debtor additional rights. The identity of the individual objecting does not

determine whether a repossession over that objection will lead to a confrontation and a threat to public safety.

4. Subsection (e) provides that seizing property in a manner that breaches the peace is prohibited as long as the repossession is still in progress, until the collateral is secured at another location. This provision is necessary because some courts have held that a breach of the peace that occurs shortly after a repossession agent has acquired control over the collateral—for example, when a tow truck has lifted a car's wheels off the ground--does not breach the peace, because the repossession is already "complete" at that point.

Tolerating repossession that breaches the peace at this point leads to serious threats to public safety. For example, in *Jordan v. Citizens and Southern Nat'l Bank*, 298 S.E.2d 213 (S.C. 1998), the court held that a 30-minute high-speed chase was not a breach of the peace because the chase did not start until the repossession agent had already started driving the consumer's truck away. Such rulings encourage repossession agents to continue

with a repossession despite the debtor's objection, while the debtor is still on the scene or is chasing the reposessor. This can lead to enhanced threats to public safety as easily or perhaps even more readily than when the objection is earlier in the repossession process.

5. The right to cure in subsection (f), applicable only to consumer transactions, is patterned after many existing state laws and a federal law that applies to manufactured homes. It is an overly harsh and unfair remedy to allow a secured party to accelerate a note without notice and then without notice seize the collateral. The consumer should have the right to cure the secured party's

concerns so as to bring matters back to the status quo. Any abuse of this right is limited because it only applies three times in a calendar year.

6. A secured party only has the right to seize property in which it has a security interest. The secured party has no rights in property in which it does not have a security interest. The secured party is also liable for any damage to the unsecured property under its care. Subsection (g) codifies existing law that the secured party has no right to unsecured property it mistakenly or intentionally seizes with the collateral, and must return that property in good condition.

Section 9-610. Disposition of Collateral After Default.

(a) [**Disposition after default.**] After default, and for consumer transactions after complying with Section 9-609(f), a secured party may sell, lease, license, or otherwise dispose of any or all of the collateral in its present condition or following any commercially reasonable preparation or processing, except as limited for consumer transactions by Section 9-614(7).

(b) [**Commercially reasonable disposition.**] Every aspect of a disposition of collateral, including the method, manner, time, place, price, and other terms must be commercially reasonable. If commercially reasonable, a secured party may dispose of collateral by public or private proceedings, by one or more contracts, as a unit or in parcels, and at any time and place and on any terms.

(c) [**Purchase by secured party.**] A secured party or a person related to the secured party may purchase collateral:

*

*

*

(g) [**Rebates.**] In consumer transactions, in conjunction with the disposition of collateral, the secured party shall seek a rebate of the unearned portion of any insurance, service contract, or other agreement related to the collateral, to the extent that the secured party has the right to seek such a rebate.

Comments:

1. Subsection (a) changes are necessary to be consistent with new Sections 9-609(f) and 9-614(7).
2. Subsection (b) clarifies that the price is one of the terms of a disposition that must be commercially reasonable. Some jurisdictions require that the price used to compute the consumer's obligation be the fair market value, instead of a sale price. This provision allows the secured party to use a sale price as long as that price is commercially reasonable.
3. Subsection (c) insures that insiders do not purchase collateral at a private sale, where there is great potential for abuse, as the seller may have an incentive to sell the consumer's property to a related party for as little as possible and then recover the difference from the consumer by way of a deficiency.

Section 9-615(f) provides that where a sale is made to an insider, the deficiency or surplus is calculated based not on the actual sale price, but the price if the collateral had not been sold to an insider. But this applies only if the sale price is significantly below the range of proceeds that a sale to a non-insider would have brought. This provision is inappropriate in a consumer transaction, requiring the consumer both to determine that the sale was to an insider and to realize when a sale price is significantly below the range of

prices that a sale to a non-insider would have brought. Moreover, in commercial settings, there may be a limited market for certain specialized collateral, and a sale to an insider may be the best approach to maximize a sale price. That is not the case for motor vehicles and other typical collateral in a consumer transaction, so that there is no need to sell privately to an insider. Public sales to insiders are permitted, as are private sales to non-insiders.

4. New subsection (g), which applies only to consumer transactions, insures that consumers receive the benefit of any owed rebate of the consumer's insurance, service contracts and the like that are cancelled when the collateral is no longer in the consumer's possession. Consumers may not know of their rights to such rebates or know how to seek them. Obtaining such rebates is part of the secured party's obligation to make commercially reasonable disposition of the collateral. If such rebates are not obtained, the insurer or service contract company will receive a windfall. This windfall will not only prejudice the consumer, but also the secured party who will instead have to seek a larger deficiency. The secured party must obtain such rebates only if it has the right to seek them.

Section 9-611. Notification Before Disposition of Collateral.

- (a) [“**Notification date.**”] In this section, “notification date” means the earlier of the date on which:
- (1) a secured party sends to the debtor, consumer obligor, and any secondary obligor an authenticated notification of disposition; or
 - (2) if not a consumer transaction, the debtor and any secondary obligor waive the right to notification.

*

*

*

(c) [Persons to be notified.] To comply with subsection (b), the secured party shall send an authenticated notification of disposition to:

(1) the debtor and any consumer obligor;

*

*

*

Comments:

1. Article 9 adopts a convention contrary to normal usage, defining a “debtor” as the collateral’s owner, who need not also be the party obligated on a debt. Instead it uses the term “obligor” to refer to the party obligated on the debt. While in commercial transactions it may make sense in certain situations to notify only the collateral’s owner or the owner and a secondary obligor, and not the party who is primarily obligated on the debt, such a non-intuitive procedure is not appropriate for consumer transactions. For example, where a parent contracts to buy a car

titled in a child’s name, the parent is a consumer obligor but not a debtor. The parent, not just the child, should receive Article 9 protections.

Throughout these model consumer amendments, when notices and other rights are provided in consumer transactions, rights are given, if appropriate, both to consumer owners and to consumer obligors, if these parties are different.

2. The change in paragraph (a)(2) is required to be consistent with new Section 9-624.

Section 9-612. Timeliness of Notification Before Disposition of Collateral.

*

*

*

(c) [25-day period in consumer transactions.] In a consumer transaction, a notification of disposition must be sent at least 25 days before any disposition of the collateral.

Comment:

Consumers are less likely than commercial entities to understand their rights after receiving notice of disposition, and are not as able as commercial entities to act quickly on those rights. Consumers also need time to

determine an amount necessary to reinstate the debt, obtain the necessary funds, and then exercise that right. Thus in consumer transactions it is important to give the debtor at least 25 days’ notice before a sale.

Section 9-614. Contents and Form of Notification Before Disposition of Collateral: Consumer-Goods Transaction.

In a consumer-goods transaction, the following rules apply:

(1) A notification of disposition must provide the following information:

(A) the information specified in Section 9-613(1), except that for a private auction the notice shall state its time and place;

* * *

(C) a description of the right to reinstate the obligation pursuant to subsection (7), the 20-day deadline for doing so, and a telephone number from which the amount that must be paid to reinstate the obligation redeem the collateral under Section 9-623 is available; and

(D)The right at any time before disposition to redeem the collateral by paying its market value or the amount owed, whichever is less; and

~~(C) a telephone number from which the amount that must be paid to the secured party to redeem the collateral under Section 9-623 is available; and~~

~~(DE) a telephone number and a ~~or~~ mailing address from which additional information concerning the disposition and the obligation secured is available.~~

(2) A particular phrasing of the notification is not required.

(3) The following form of notification, when completed, provides sufficient information:

[Name and address of secured party]

[Date]

NOTICE OF OUR PLAN TO SELL PROPERTY

[Name and address of any obligor who is also a debtor]

Subject: [Identification of Transaction]

We have your [describe collateral], because you broke promises in our agreement. You have the right to recover [describe collateral] and reinstate your payment schedule in our agreement by paying, within 20 days of the date of this letter, the past due amount (not the total loan balance) and certain expenses related to the taking, storage and preparation for sale of the collateral. Call xxxxxx to determine the amount owed.

If you prefer, you may redeem the collateral by paying its market value or the total amount owed, whichever is less. This right continues up until the time the collateral is sold. Call xxxxxx for more information.

[For a public disposition or private auction:]

Unless you reinstate your payment schedule or redeem the collateral within the time periods stated above, wWe will sell [describe collateral] at [public sale] or [private auction]. A sale could include a lease or license. The sale will be held as follows:

Date:

Time:

Place

[For a public sale] You may attend the sale and bring bidders if you want.

[For a private auction] Eligible bidders are limited. If you are not eligible to bid, you can arrange for eligible bidders to attend the sale.

[For a ~~private~~ disposition other than a public sale or private auction:]

We will sell [describe collateral] at private sale sometime after [date]. A sale could include a lease or license.

The money that we get from the sale (after paying our costs) will reduce the amount you owe. If we get less money than you owe, you [will or will not, as applicable] still owe us the difference. If we get more money than you owe, you will get the extra money, unless we must pay it to someone else.

~~You can get the property back at any time before we sell it by paying us the full amount you owe (not just the past due payments), including our expenses. To learn the exact amount you must pay, call us at [telephone number].~~

*

*

*

(7) If within 20 days of the notice of disposition, the secured party receives all past due amounts (not including accelerated payments) and its reasonable expenses of taking, holding, preparing for disposition, and processing the collateral, the secured party shall promptly:

(A) return the collateral to the debtor; and

(B) reinstate the terms of the obligation as set out prior to acceleration.

(8) The obligations set out in subsection (7) shall apply no more than twice in any calendar year.

Comments:

1. Paragraph (1)(A) provides consumers with the right to know when and where their property is sold at a private auction. Motor vehicles and other collateral are often sold at dealer-only auctions where the general public cannot attend. Such auctions are considered private sales under the UCC, and thus under existing Article 9 the debtor need not be informed as to the place or time of the auction or even if there will be an auction, but only that a private sale will be conducted after a

certain date. This contrasts with the debtor's right to receive notice of the place and time of a public auction.

It is important for a consumer to know the exact date of a private auction because the consumer has the right to redeem collateral up until that date. Being told that the collateral will be sold at some time after an earlier date may discourage consumers from exercising their rights to redeem the collateral.

In addition, where a private auction does not allow the consumer entry, the consumer should at least have the opportunity to encourage bidding from someone who is able to attend the private auction. This option will be impossible if the consumer does not know the time and place of an auction or even if the property is to be sold at an auction.

2. Changes to subsections (1) and (3) are required so that the notice to consumers accurately reflects the additional rights that this model law provides for consumers both prior to and at disposition.

3. New subsection (7) provides consumers with the right to recover the collateral and reinstate the credit agreement by paying all past due payments and the secured party's reasonable expenses of taking, holding,

preparing for disposition, and processing the collateral. It is a harsh and one-sided right that allows the secured party to accelerate the obligation without notice, then seize the collateral without notice or court involvement, and then sell the collateral as it wishes without court involvement.

Many states already provide consumers in this situation with the right to reinstate the agreement, and this right is only fair to offset the secured party's rights. The reinstatement returns the parties to the status quo and may even help the creditor if the consumer returns to making regular payments, thus eliminating the need to sue for a deficiency.

4. Subsection (8) prevents abuse of the right to reinstate by making it available only twice in a given year.

Section 9-615. Application of Proceeds of Disposition; Liability for Deficiency and Right to Surplus.

(a) [**Application of proceeds.**] A secured party shall apply or pay over for application the cash proceeds for disposition under Section 9-610 and any rebates obtained pursuant to Section 9-610(g), in the following order to:

(1) the reasonable expenses of retaking, holding, preparing for disposition, processing, and disposing, and, to the extent provided for by agreement, allowed by subsection (h), and not prohibited by law, reasonable attorney's fees and legal expenses incurred by the secured party;

*

*

*

(h) [**Attorney's fees.**] In a consumer transaction, a secured party in seeking recovery of a deficiency or in calculating a surplus or an amount necessary to cure under Section 9-609(f), to reinstate under Section 9-614(7), or to redeem collateral under Section 9-620, shall not seek attorney's fees or other legal expenses, except for those fees or expenses required to litigate an action in court, and only if those fees are allowed by applicable law.

Comments:

1. Changes to subsection (a) are necessary to make the provision consistent with changes made to Sections 9-610(g) and 9-615(h).

2. Subsection (h) provides that in consumer transactions a secured party cannot seek attorney fees except for those fees related to an actual court case. There is no reason in a consumer repossession for attorney involvement, much less for the secured party

to claim a certain amount in attorney fees. Such a right instead is subject to significant abuse. Nevertheless, nothing in this provision prevents a secured party from seeking attorney fees related to a replevin court action or a deficiency court action, as long as applicable law allows for such fees. If applicable law does not allow for such fees in a court proceeding, this provision does not authorize them.

Section 9-616. Explanation of Calculation of Surplus or Deficiency.

* * *

(b) [**Explanation of calculation.**] In a consumer-goods transaction in which a disposition of collateral has occurred, ~~in which the debtor is entitled to a surplus or a consumer obligor is liable for a deficiency under Section 9-615~~, the secured party shall:

(1) send an explanation to the debtor and to any ~~or~~ consumer obligor after the disposition on or before the earlier of ~~and~~:

(A) the date on which ~~before or when~~ the secured party accounts to the debtor and pays any surplus or first makes written demand on the consumer obligor after the disposition for payment of the deficiency; ~~and~~

(B) ~~within~~ 14 days after receipt of a request for an explanation; ~~or~~

(C) 30 days after the disposition; ~~or~~

~~(2) in the case of a consumer obligor who is liable for a deficiency, within 14 days after receipt of a request, send to the consumer obligor a record waiving the secured party's right to a deficiency.~~

(c) [Required information.] To comply with subsection (a)(1)(B), a writing must provide the following information in the following order: 1) the aggregate amount of obligations secured by the security interest under which the disposition was made, ~~and, if the amount reflects a rebate of unearned interest or credit service charge, an indication of that fact,~~ calculated as of a specified date:

* * *

(2) the amount of proceeds of the disposition, any rebates of interest or credit service charges, and any rebates obtained pursuant to Section 9-610(g), with the amount of the rebate and the date on which it was calculated itemized separately for each rebate;

*

*

*

(4) ~~itemization of the amount for each~~ the amount, in the aggregate or by type, and types of expenses, including expenses of retaking, holding, preparing for disposition, processing, and disposing of the collateral, and, attorney’s fees secured by the collateral which are known to the secured party and relate to the current disposition to the extent permitted by Section 9-615(h);

(5) ~~Itemization of each in the aggregate or by type, and type of credits, including rebates of interest or credit service charges,~~ insurance, service contracts, extended warranties or other agreements related to the collateral, to which the obligor is known to may be entitled and which are not reflected in the amount in paragraph (4) and

(6) the amount of the surplus or deficiency, and whether the secured party will seek to recover the deficiency.

*

*

*

Comments:

1. After consumers’ property is seized and sold, consumers need to know their rights and obligations. The consumer can request information from the secured party, but Article 9 does not provide any mechanism for notifying consumers of this right. This amendment revises subsection (b) so that the secured party has an affirmative obligation to inform the consumer shortly after disposition whether a deficiency will be sought or not.

Many consumers are surprised that they might owe a deficiency even after their property is sold, and thus are unprepared to defend a deficiency action when such an action is brought many months or even years after their property is seized. By then any records or recollections as to the transaction may be lost. Consumers are better able to defend a deficiency action if they are informed of this liability shortly after disposition.

Other consumers may assume a deficiency will be sought when in fact it may not. It is important to be informed if that threat will not be forthcoming. A consumer who is informed a deficiency is not to be sought might also question whether a surplus is owed.

2. Subsection (b)(1) is revised so that both consumer obligors and consumer debtors are entitled to the notice. See Comment 1 to Section 9-611 concerning the need to extend rights to consumer obligors and not just to debtors.

3. Existing Article 9 provides for a notice to the consumer about the calculation of the deficiency or surplus, but it is a summary notice, without details that consumers need—details that are readily available to the secured party. The section has been amended to provide more precise information to the consumer.

4. The existing section does not provide the consumer information as to what rebates the secured party has and has not obtained on behalf of the consumer (thus applying them to any deficiency) as to insurance, service contracts, or extended warranties, or the amounts of those rebates. Consumers need to know what rebates have not been sought so they can seek them themselves. The consumer also needs to be able to check whether the rebates obtained were in the proper amount and have been properly credited to the consumer.

5. The existing section does not provide consumers with a breakdown of the individual expenses being assessed. As a result, consumers cannot determine their reasonableness. Subsection (c)(4) has been revised to comply with standard business practice of providing consumers with an itemization of any charges assessed to them, particularly charges where the amount has not been determined in advance.

6. The right to seek attorney fees is limited in subsection (c)(4) to be consistent with new Section 9-615(h).

Section 9-620. Acceptance of Collateral in Full or Partial Satisfaction of Obligation; Compulsory Disposition of Collateral.

*

*

*

(h) [Secured Party's Treatment of Collateral] In a consumer transaction, a secured party's treatment of the collateral as its own shall, at the debtor's option, be treated as acceptance of the collateral in full satisfaction of the obligation.

Comment:

Article 9 requires the secured party to dispose of the collateral to determine its market value. Section 9-620 currently gives the secured party a limited right to accept the collateral in satisfaction of the debt. Where the secured party does not go through the procedures specified by Section 9-620, there have been cases where the secured party still claims a deficiency, even though it has used the collateral before disposing it or has not

disposed of the collateral to determine its value. New subsection (h) provides consumer rights where the secured party, instead of disposing of collateral, retains it and treats it as its own without going through the procedures set forth in Section 9-620. The amendment gives the consumer the option to treat the secured party as having accepted the collateral in full satisfaction of the debt.

Section 9-623. Right to Redeem Collateral.

(a) **[Persons that may redeem.]** A debtor, a consumer obligor on behalf of the debtor, any secondary obligor, or any other secured party or lienholder may redeem collateral.

(b) **[Requirements for redemption.]** To redeem collateral, a person shall tender the lesser of

(1) fulfillment of all obligations secured by the collateral, plus~~(2)~~ the reasonable expenses ~~and~~ attorney's fees described in Section 9-615(a)(1) and attorney fees to the extent permitted by Section 9-615(h);

(2) in a consumer transaction, the collateral's fair market value, less reasonable expenses to sell the collateral.

~ * * *

(d) [Debtor's interest in collateral.] Until expiration of the periods set out in Section 9-623(c), the debtor has an interest in the collateral.

(e) [Appraisal.] The amounts specified in subsection (b)(2) shall be determined by an independent professional appraiser selected and paid for by the party redeeming the collateral, and agreed to by the secured party. The secured party shall not unreasonably reject the appraiser selected by the person redeeming the collateral or prevent the appraiser from inspecting the collateral.

(f) [Deficiency remaining after redemption.] Redemption shall terminate the secured party's security interest in the collateral. Redemption under subsection (b)(2) shall not affect the obligors' liability under Section 9-615(c) for any deficiency remaining after payment of the redemption amount.

Comments:

1. The addition of consumer obligor in subsection (a) is explained at Comment 1 to Section 9-611.

2. The limitation on attorney fees in subsection (b)(1) makes the section consistent with Section 9-615(h).

3. The current right of redemption in subsection (b) provides a windfall for secured parties and places unreasonable pressures on a consumer debtor. On repossession, all the secured party can expect from possession and disposition of the collateral is the collateral's value less sales expenses. The secured party also retains the right to seek a deficiency.

The current right of redemption, on the other hand, gives the secured party a windfall at the

expense of the consumer. Instead of the value of the collateral less sales expenses, the secured party immediately receives in exchange for the collateral the total outstanding obligation and all expenses to repossess, store, process and condition the collateral, even if this is far more than the collateral's value.

For many consumers, though, this bad deal may be a necessity. Consumer collateral may have special significance to the consumer over its monetary value. Inefficiencies in the marketplace, particularly for low income consumers or consumers with blemished credit records, may make finding a replacement far more costly than the collateral's value. Existing subsection (b) thus

authorizes secured parties to hold consumers' collateral hostage unless the consumer pays the secured party in many cases far more than the collateral is worth to the secured party.

4. Amended subsection (b) allows consumers to recover their property by paying the secured party in full for everything that the repossessed property is worth to the secured party. Subsection (f) allows the secured party to seek a deficiency for the amount owed less the redemption amount.

Thus the secured party is in no worse a position than if the consumer did not redeem and instead the secured party disposed of the collateral and sought a deficiency. The secured party would recover from the sale the collateral's value less sale expenses, and this is exactly what the amended subsection (b) requires the consumer to pay the secured party to redeem the collateral. Indeed, the secured party may be better off because the

consumer will not be able to defend a deficiency action by claiming that the disposition was not commercially reasonable, since there is no disposition.

5. Subsection (e) provides that the collateral's market value is determined by an appraisal at the consumer's expense, by an appraiser approved by the secured party. This provision is patterned on a similar provision in the federal Consumer Leasing Act regulations. See 12 C.F.R. § 1013.4(l).

6. The appraisal determines not only the market value, but also reasonable selling expenses. The collateral's sale price may be related to the size of the selling expenses—selling a vehicle on the lot may bring a higher price than a dealer-only auction, but selling expenses may be higher. In addition, the market value less the sales expenses is the amount required to redeem, so the appraisal will include an estimate of selling expenses.

Section 9-624. Waiver.

(a) [**Waiver of disposition notification.**] A debtor or secondary obligor may waive the right to notification of disposition of collateral under Section 9-611, but not in a consumer transaction, and only by an agreement to that effect entered into and authenticated after default.

*

*

*

Comment:

Notice before disposition is critical for consumers, providing the right to reinstate the loan and recover the collateral, the right to redeem the collateral, and the right to purchase the collateral at the repossession sale. Typical consumers will have no knowledge of these rights and notice of these

rights should not be waivable, even after default. Otherwise important consumer protections will be meaningless. Even after default, the waiver might be included in small print buried in another document the consumer signs, and the rights here are too fundamental to be lost in this manner.

Section 9-625. Remedies for Secured Party's Failure to Comply with Article.

*

*

*

(b) [**Damages for noncompliance.**] Subject to subsections (c), (d), and (f), a person is liable for damages in the amount of any loss caused by a failure to comply with this article. Loss caused by a failure to comply may include loss resulting from the debtor's or a consumer obligor's inability to obtain, or increased costs of, alternative financing.

(c) [**Persons entitled to recover damages: statutory damages if collateral is consumer goods.**] Except as otherwise provided in Section 9-628:

*

*

*

(2) if the collateral is consumer goods, a person that was a debtor or an secondary obligor at the time a secured party failed to comply with this part may recover for that failure in any event an amount not less than the credit service charge plus 10 percent of the principal amount of the obligation or the time-price differential plus 10 percent of the cash price. There can be only one recovery under this paragraph for each instance in which the secured party seeks to enforce its interest.

*

*

*

(e) [Recovery in consumer transactions when deficiency eliminated or reduced.] In a consumer transaction in which the deficiency is eliminated or reduced under Sections 9-620(h) or 9-626(b) or otherwise, a debtor or obligor may recover damages for the loss of any surplus and may also recover under subsection (b) or (c) for noncompliance with the provisions of this part relating to collection, enforcement, disposition, or acceptance.

(ef) [**Statutory damages: noncompliance with specified provisions.**] In addition to any damages recoverable under subsection (b), the debtor, consumer obligor, or person named as a debtor in a filed record, as applicable, may recover \$500 in each case from a person that:

*

*

*

(4) fails to cause the secured party of record to file or send a termination statement as required by Section 9-513(a) or (c); or

(5) fails to comply with Section 9-616(b)(1) ~~and whose failure is part of a pattern, or consistent with a practice, of noncompliance; or~~

~~(6) fails to comply with Section 9-616(b)(2).~~

*

*

*

Comments:

1. See Comment 1 to Section 9-611 for a discussion of the change made in subsection (b) and a similar change made to subsection (c). Because both the owner and the obligor have a remedy in a consumer transaction, subsection (c)(2) is changed to clarify that there can be only one recovery of statutory damages between the owner and obligor.

2. Article 9 allows secured parties extraordinary powers--to seize and sell the consumer's property without court or other governmental supervision, only limited by Article 9's requirements. But typically a consumer will not know whether the secured party in fact complies with Article 9's standards. There must be a deterrent to prevent widespread abuse in the seizure and sale of consumer collateral. Because Article 9 does not provide for such a deterrent through government agency enforcement, it

must provide for it by its own terms. Subsection (e) is thus amended to be consistent with a number of court rulings. If the secured party cannot prove the reasonableness of its claimed deficiency, this should not prevent the secured party from being liable under Article 9 for its Article 9 violations.

3. Section 9-616 provides an important notice to a consumer as to the status of the obligation after the repossession sale (see Comment 1 to Section 9-616) and new section 9-616(b) requires that the notice be sent to the consumer. Violation of this requirement merits a remedy for the individual consumer who is deprived of this important notice, and there is no reason for that consumer to have to prove that the failure to send the notice is part of a pattern or practice of non-compliance.

Section 9-626. Action in Which Deficiency or Surplus Is in Issue.

*

*

*

~~(b) [Non-Consumer transactions; no inference.] The limitation of the rules in subsection (a) to transactions other than consumer transactions is intended to leave to the court the determination of the proper rules in consumer transactions. The court may not infer from that limitation the nature of the proper rule in consumer transactions and may continue to apply established approaches. In an action arising from a consumer transaction in which the amount of a deficiency or surplus is in issue, the following rules apply:~~

~~(1) A secured party has the burden of proving compliance with the provisions of this part relating to collection, enforcement, disposition, or acceptance whether or not the debtor or an obligor places the secured party's compliance in issue.~~

~~(2) A secured party is not entitled to a deficiency if it fails to prove that the collection, enforcement, disposition, or acceptance was conducted in accordance with the provisions of this part.~~

Comments:

1. Existing Section 9-626 specifies the rules for actions for a deficiency or surplus in commercial transactions, but not for consumer transactions. Instead, existing subsection (b) leaves that to the courts. Article 9 sets out specific rules and burdens governing secured transactions. But Section 9-626 fails to specify consumer rights when an issue is one of the most important issues of a consumer repossession—the consequences of a repossession or sale that violates Article 9.

Unlike commercial entities that have clear rules, this leaves consumers uncertain as to their rights. To promote clarity and uniformity, these amendments provide specific rules in actions involving a deficiency or a surplus in a consumer transaction—rules that have been adopted by many courts for many years.

2. For commercial transactions the debtor must first place in issue the commercial reasonableness of a sale before the secured party has the burden to establish its compliance with Article 9. While this rule may make sense between two commercial entities, it is inappropriate for consumer transactions, particularly where the consumer, after having lost the collateral, is defending a deficiency action unrepresented.

The secured party has sold the collateral without court or other governmental supervision, often at a sale from which the consumer and other consumers are barred. The consumer is unlikely to be knowledgeable about the secured party's sale

procedures and whether they are commercially reasonable. If the secured party wishes to establish the value of the collateral through a sale procedure over which it has complete control, it should bear the burden in consumer transactions to show that the procedures it chose are reasonable. It is not burdensome for a secured party to detail the procedures it used.

3. New subsection (b)(2) adopts the absolute bar rule that is utilized today in many jurisdictions for consumer transactions. Article 9 provides secured parties with extraordinary rights. They can accelerate a note without notice, and then without notice can seize the consumer's property without supervision by a court or any government agency. They can then sell the property without any court or other government agency supervision, and can do so in almost any manner they choose. Then the secured party can recover the total amount of the obligation less whatever price results from the sale.

There are enough instances of abuse to merit a strict standard for a secured party if it does not follow the minimal standards placed upon it. For example, the secured party should not be able to obtain a deficiency after seizing and selling the consumer's collateral in a commercially unreasonable manner. The sale price cannot be presumed to be reasonable in the absence of proof that the sale was conducted in a commercially reasonable manner, so the amount sought in a deficiency cannot be shown to be reasonable.

Effective Date

This Act takes effect 90 days after enactment and applies to any aspect of enforcement of a security interest occurring after the effective date, even if the security interest was created before the Act takes effect. This Act does not affect an action, case, or proceeding commenced before this Act takes effect.

Comment:

These amendments take effect 90 days after enactment. Even if a credit agreement was consummated before enactment, the amendments apply to actions to enforce a security interest or recover a deficiency after the amendments' effective date. For example, if notice of a planned disposition took place before the effective date, the secured party's pre-disposition notice need not comply with these amendments. In the same transaction, if the required post-disposition notice is sent after the effective date, that notice must comply with the amendments. The amendments do not apply to any court proceedings brought before the effective date.

Boston Headquarters:
7 Winthrop Square
Boston, MA 02110-1245
Phone: 617/542-8010
Fax: 617/542-8028
www.nclc.org

NCLC®

NATIONAL
CONSUMER
LAW
CENTER®

Advancing Fairness
in the Marketplace for All

Washington Office:
1001 Connecticut Ave, NW
Suite 510
Washington, DC, 20036
Phone: 202/452-6252
Fax: 202/296-4062